2009

Wayne L. Welsh and Carol Welsh v. Hospital Corporation of Utah Lakeview Hospital : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) provided the Utah Supreme Court with jurisdiction over this interlocutory appeal. The Supreme Court transferred this case to this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4). This Court granted the interlocutory appeal on June 3, 2009. (R. 478.) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) and Utah R. App. P. 5.

ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. **Issue:** Whether the trial court abused its discretion by denying Appellants Wayne and Carol Welshes' (the "Welshes") Motion for a 39-day enlargement of time to designate expert witnesses and submit initial expert reports, where: (a) the trial court had already granted the Motion in an earlier ruling; (b) the Welshes had relied upon the trial court's first ruling granting the Motion; and (c) the extension of time that the trial court granted in its first ruling did not prejudice either Appellee Hospital Corporation of Utah d/b/a Lakeview Hospital ("Lakeview") or the trial court. The trial court's first ruling granting the Motion did not alter any of the dates in the scheduling order and, at the time, the case had yet to be set for trial or even certified as ready for trial.

Standard of Review: In general appellate courts "review whether a trial court properly ruled on pretrial compliance with a scheduling order under an abuse of discretion standard." *Normandeau v. Hanson Equip., Inc.*, 2007 UT App 382, ¶9, 174 P.3d 1. In this case, however, the trial court initially granted the Welshes' Motion for an extension of time and then, after the Welshes complied with the trial court's ruling by designating their experts and submitting initial expert reports, the trial court reversed

itself, without notice to the Welshes or an opportunity to respond. Subsequently, the trial court justified this reversal as authorized by Rule 60(a). To the extent the trial court based its authority to reverse itself in this manner on its interpretation of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court reviews that decision as a matter of law. *See Glacier Land Co., LLC v. Claudia Klawe & Assocs., LLC*, 2006 UT App 516, ¶13, 154 P.3d 852 (observing, “to the extent the issue on appeal required the trial court ‘to interpret rules of civil procedure, it presents a question of law which we review for correctness.’ ” (quotations and citations omitted)).

2. Issue: Whether the trial court abused its discretion by *sua sponte* sanctioning the Welshes, for filing a Motion for a 39-day enlargement of time, by prohibiting their introduction of expert testimony at trial, where neither the Welshes nor their counsel engaged in any bad faith, intentional or willful misconduct to justify the extreme sanctions and where the trial court had initially granted the Motion in its first ruling.

Standard of Review: This Court reviews a trial court’s imposition of discovery sanctions for an abuse of discretion. *Kilpatrick v. Bullough Abatement, Inc.*, 2008 UT 82, ¶23, 199 P.3d 957.

3. Issue: Whether the trial court violated the Welshes’ due process rights when it *sua sponte* sanctioned the Welshes by prohibiting their introduction of expert testimony at trial, where: (a) the trial court did not provide the Welshes with notice or an opportunity to respond prior to imposing sanctions; (b) the trial court did not make the requisite findings of bad faith, intentional or willful misconduct prior to imposing

sanctions; (c) the trial court *sua sponte* reversed its earlier ruling granting the Motion, a ruling on which the Welshes relied; and (d) where neither the Welshes nor their counsel engaged in any bad faith, intentional or willful misconduct to justify the extreme sanctions.

Standard of Review: “Constitutional issues, including questions regarding due process, are questions of law that we review for correctness.” *State v. Mejia*, 2007 UT App 337, ¶8, 172 P.3d 315 (citation omitted).

Preservation of Issues: All of these issues were preserved through the Welshes’ Motion for Enlargement of Time, filed by the Welshes’ new counsel on November 26, 2009, and the Welshes’ Motion for Relief, filed January 29, 2009. (R. 72-90; 137-39; 213-306; 337-366.)

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Issue 1: In its April 14, 2009 Ruling on Motion for Relief Order and Entry of Order Enlarging Time, the trial court relied on Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to support its January 22, 2009 *sua sponte* reversal of its December 29, 2008 decision granting the Welshes’ Motion for a 39-day enlargement of time. Utah R. Civ. P. 60(a) provides:

(a) **Clerical Mistakes.** Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders. During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court.

No other statutory or constitutional provisions or other rules or regulations are determinative of this issue.

Issue 2: No statutory or constitutional provisions or other rules or regulations are determinative of this issue.

Issue 3: The constitutional provisions determinative on this issue are:

1. Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

2. Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution:

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor **be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law;** nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

3. Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Section 1:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; **nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law;** nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The Welshes initiated the underlying action against Lakeview to recover for severe permanent injuries Wayne L. Welsh suffered as a direct and proximate result of Lakeview's negligence. Although the merits of the underlying action are not before the Court in this interlocutory appeal, the resolution of this appeal will likely have a potentially significant impact on the outcome of the underlying action.

By this appeal, the Welshes ask this Court to reverse the unreasonable and unconstitutional procedural rulings and draconian sanctions that the trial court imposed in the midst of discovery. Shortly after the Welshes retained Rodney G. Snow and Matthew Steward as new counsel in November 2008, the Welshes' new counsel moved the trial court for a 39-day extension of time to designate experts and submit initial expert reports. On December 29, 2008, the trial court granted the Welshes' Motion ("December 29 Ruling"). Pursuant to the trial court's December 29 Ruling, the Welshes retained and designated their experts and submitted their reports in compliance with the new deadline.

Despite the fact that the parties were proceeding with discovery and other matters according to the trial court's December 29 Ruling, the trial court abruptly reversed itself and denied the extension it had granted less than one month earlier. The trial court further *sua sponte* sanctioned the Welshes by prohibiting the Welshes from introducing expert testimony at trial. (See January 22, 2009 Ruling on Motion for Enlargement of Time and Defendant Lakeview Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment, hereafter

“January 22, 2009 Order,” attached as Addendum A.) It is the rulings in this Order that are the subject of this interlocutory appeal.

The trial court did not make any of the requisite findings of willful misconduct by the Welshes or their counsel prior to imposing the extreme sanctions in the January 22, 2009 Order. In fact, neither the Welshes nor their counsel engaged in any willful misconduct. Instead, the Welshes had fully complied with the trial court’s ruling in December 2008 Ruling granting their Motion. Nevertheless, when the Welshes’ notified the trial court of the lack of evidence to support the sanctions in a motion seeking relief from the January 22, 2009 Order, the trial court affirmed the sanctions and made after-the-fact findings to support the rulings in the January 22, 2009 Order. (*See* April 14, 2009 Ruling on Motion for Relief from Order and for Entry of Order Enlarging Time, hereafter “April 14, 2009 Order,” attached as Addendum B.) Even accepting the trial court’s procedurally flawed *post-hoc* findings, those findings still fail to justify the imposition of sanctions *against the Welshes* in this matter.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The interlocutory appeal results from the trial court’s procedural rulings. Accordingly, the primary material facts to this appeal are the course of proceedings and disposition below. For economy, the Welshes have provided a detailed history of the course of proceedings and disposition in the “Procedural Background” section of the Statement of Facts, immediately below.

Statement of Facts

Factual Background

Wayne L. Welsh served as the State Auditor for the Utah Legislature for thirty (30) years. In September 2004, Mr. Welsh went to Lakeview Hospital, for treatment after suffering a syncope and a fall at an automobile repair shop. While at Lakeview Hospital, and despite his syncope and complaints that he felt dizzy and nauseated, Mr. Welsh was improperly left alone on an elevated examination table during the administration of a Persantine Stress Test. While left alone, Mr. Welsh fell off of the elevated metal examination table where he had been left, resulting in a fracture to his skull and massive subdural hematoma and eventual coma. Despite emergency brain surgery at the University of Utah Medical Center, Mr. Welsh remained in the coma for several days. Mr. Welsh suffered significant brain damage that has devastated both his and his wife's quality of life, requiring extensive care, for which they seek redress. (R. 2-9, 218-19.)

Procedural Background

1. The Welshes filed their Complaint against Lakeview in this action on February 27, 2006, and completed service of process on Lakeview March 7, 2006. (R. 1-14; *see also* "Trial Court's Docket," April 20, 2009, attached as Addendum C.)
2. From the time the Complaint was filed through approximately November 2008, the Welshes' counsel on this case was Nathan Wilcox. Mr. Wilcox was a shareholder in the law firm Anderson & Karrenberg through October 2009, when he became in-house counsel of a Utah county company. Mr. Wilcox remained associated with Anderson & Karrenberg in an "of-counsel" capacity. He left Anderson &

Karrenberg in June 2008. Anderson & Karrenberg withdrew as counsel for the Welshes on June 19, 2008. After leaving Anderson & Karrenberg, Mr. Wilcox became “of counsel” with Clyde Snow & Sessions. However, there was inevitable delay in transitioning active cases that Anderson & Karrenberg could not handle to Clyde Snow & Sessions, including the instant matter. (R. 56-58, 76, 341.)

3. A scheduling order in this case was entered by the trial court on August 4, 2006 (R. 29-34.)

4. Counsel for Plaintiff requested a scheduling conference with the trial court pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 16 on February 14, 2007. The requested scheduling conference was conducted by telephone on May 4, 2007. (R. 35-37; *see also* Trial Court’s Docket.)

5. Immediately following the May 4, 2007 telephone conference, Mr. Wilcox sent a letter to Lakeview’s counsel to set up depositions of several of Lakeview’s key employees. Lakeview’s counsel did not respond with available deposition dates. (*See* R. 343-44; 355-56; *see also* May 4, 2007 Letter, attached as Addendum D.)

6. The parties’ counsel also executed a stipulated amended scheduling order following the May 4, 2007 conference. (R. 42-47; *see also* Trial Court’s Docket.)

7. On July 10, 2007, Mr. Wilcox sent Lakeview’s counsel a follow-up letter (to the May 4, 2007 letter), again requesting the depositions of key Lakeview employees. Once again, this request went unanswered and Lakeview did not make the requested employees available for deposition or provide a single date. (R. 225; 343-44; 358-59; *see also* July 10, 2007 Letter, attached as Addendum E.)

8. In January of 2008, the parties' counsel again met and executed a proposed amended scheduling order. Lakeview's counsel prepared this amended scheduling order and submitted it to the trial court for execution. The trial court executed it on February 11, 2008. (R. 50-55; *see also* Trial Court's Docket.)

9. In August 2008, the parties' counsel (including Mr. Wilcox for the Welshes) again met and executed the final amended scheduling order. Lakeview's counsel prepared this amended scheduling order and filed it on August 28, 2008. (R. 61-66; *see also* Trial Court's Docket.)

10. The trial court scheduled a telephone conference on September 30, 2008 to discuss the final amended scheduling order. During the scheduling conference, Mr. Wilcox indicated that the case was progressing slowly, in part, because Lakeview's counsel was not cooperating in his requests to depose Lakeview's witnesses and employees. Following the telephone conference, the trial court executed the final amended scheduling order on September 30, 2008 ("September 2008 Scheduling Order," attached as Addendum F). This Scheduling Order also included a handwritten note stating "Last amended order[.] [C]ase to move along or it will be dismissed[.]" (R. 61-66; *see also* Trial Court's Docket.)

11. The September 2008 Scheduling Order, *inter alia*, set a date of December 1, 2008 for the Welshes to designate expert witnesses and submit initial expert reports. (*See* September 2008 Scheduling Order, ¶2(d).)

12. The transition of the Welsh case to Clyde Snow & Sessions was completed in November 2008. The undersigned counsel, Rodney G. Snow and Matthew A. Steward

became new counsel for the Welshes in this matter in November of 2008, entering notices of appearances on November 26, 2008. (R. 71-72, 76.)

13. Upon taking over the case, Mr. Snow and Mr. Steward realized it would be difficult to complete the initial expert reports by the December 1, 2008 deadline. Mr. Steward first contacted Lakeview's counsel to discuss extending the expert report deadlines, and again requested dates to take Lakeview's employee's depositions. Lakeview's counsel, having never provided a single date for the depositions of any of Lakeview's employees, refused to stipulate to the extension. However, Lakeview's counsel agreed that the requested depositions could be taken after the discovery deadline of the current Scheduling Order. (R. 70-71; 343-44; 361-62; *see also* November 20, 2008 Letter from Mr. Steward to Mr. Riekhof, attached as Addendum G.)

14. Unable to obtain a stipulation from Lakeview's counsel, the Welshes' counsel filed a Motion for Enlargement of Time on November 26, 2008. This Motion was filed before the expiration of the existing deadline and sought an extension of time from December 1, 2008 until January 9, 2009 to provide Plaintiffs' initial expert disclosures and expert reports to Lakeview. Pursuant to the Motion, Lakeview was also to receive an extension of time to file initial expert reports from January 31, 2009 until February 13, 2009. (R. 72-74.)

15. The Welshes' counsel did not seek to change any other dates in the September 2008 Scheduling Order, including the certification of readiness for trial set for June 2009, through the Motion. (R. 72-74; *see also* September 2008 Scheduling Order, p. 4.)

16. The grounds for the enlargement of time were, *inter alia*, that the Welshes had recently obtained new counsel and Lakeview had failed cooperate in the deposition of its employees—specifically, the lab technician, Mr. Alan Kunnard, who left Mr. Welsh unattended and was a key witness to the alleged negligence. Lakeview’s failure to make its employees available for deposition, despite repeated requests and the fact that the Welshes allowed Lakeview to take their depositions, caused a delay in the completion of fact discovery and, in turn, a delay in the exchange of expert reports. (R. 72-73, 76-77.)

17. Briefing was completed on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Enlargement of Time and the Welshes’ filed a Request to Submit for Decision on December 16, 2008. (R. 178-80.)

18. On December 29, 2008, the Court entered the following ruling on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Enlargement of Time on its docket:

12-29-08 Note: Mr. Steward’s [Plaintiffs’ counsel] Motion to Enlarge Time is granted, last time. He needs to submit an order. I called his office this date.

(*See* Trial Court’s Docket (emphasis added).)

19. As indicated on the Trial Court’s Docket, the trial court’s clerk also called Mr. Steward on December 29, 2008 and informed him that the Welshes’ Motion to Enlarge Time was granted. (*See* Trial Court’s Docket.)

20. In accordance with this December 29, 2008 Ruling (“December 29 Ruling”), the Welshes’ counsel prepared and filed a proposed Order on January 14, 2009, pursuant Utah R. Civ. P. 7(f), for entry by the trial court. The proposed Order was approved as to form by Lakeview’s counsel. (R. 198-201; *see* Proposed Order, attached hereto as Addendum H.)

21. Based upon the trial court's December 29 Ruling, the Welshes' counsel completed their expert designations and served their initial reports upon Defendant's counsel by the January 9, 2009 deadline. (R. 140-42; 202-03.)

22. The Welshes' expert witnesses include: (1) Feras Bader, M.D., FACC; (2) Candace Jae Winter, BSN, RN, CCM, CLCP; and (3) Kelly R. Johnson, MVA, CPA/ABV, DABFA. That these experts are critical to the Welshes should have been obvious to all parties and the trial court. For example:

a. Dr. Bader provided an expert opinion that Lakeview clearly violated the standard of care in its treatment of Mr. Welsh. (R. 241-46.)

b. Candace Winter is a life care specialist who provided an expert opinion on Mr. Welsh's needs and condition over the remainder of his life. (R. 273, 279.)

c. Kelly Johnson is a forensic accountant who provided an expert opinion on the economic loss incurred by Mr. Welsh as a result of the injuries he sustained from Lakeview's negligent treatment, including future injury-related expenses, past and future lost income, past medical expenses, and other criteria. Mr. Johnson calculated Mr. Welsh's economic loss from the negligent treatment at \$1,357,343.00. (R. 272-96.)

23. The Welshes' and their counsel relied on the phone call from the trial court's clerk, as well as the trial court's December 29 Ruling noted on the docket granting their Motion for Enlargement of Time. Considerable time and money were spent producing the reports by the January 9, 2009 deadline. (R. 222-23.)

24. Also based upon the trial court's December 29 Ruling granting the Motion for Enlargement of Time, counsel for the Welshes and Lakeview had been actively working on scheduling the depositions of the Welshes' expert witnesses and pursuing mediation. This case was on its way to being resolved until derailed and further delayed by the trial court's inexplicable reversal of its December ruling. (R. 223, 458; *see also* January 13, 2009 Letter from Mark A. Reikhof to Matthew A. Steward, attached as Addendum I.)

The January 22, 2009 Order

25. On January 22, 2009, the trial court entered a Ruling on Motion for Enlargement of Time and Defendant Lakeview Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment ("January 22 Order," attached as Addendum A.). As part of the January 22 Order, the trial court *sua sponte* reversed the December 29 Ruling, without notice or an opportunity to be heard, and denied the Welshes' Motion for Enlargement of Time. (January 22 Order, p. 5.) In addition, once again without hearing or notice, the trial court sanctioned the Welshes pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 16(d) and 37(b)(2)(B) by prohibiting the Welshes "from introducing any expert testimony at trial regarding their claims," (*id.*, p. 6), apparently as a sanction for the Welshes' filing of a Motion to enlarge time to submit initial expert reports, which Motion the trial court initially granted.

26. The trial court did not make any findings of bad faith, fault, or intentional/willful misconduct by the Welshes to support its imposition of sanctions against the Welshes in its January 22 Order reversing its December 29 Ruling. (*See* January 22 Order.)

27. Indeed, while Lakeview opposed the Welshes' Motion for Enlargement of Time, Lakeview did not seek the extreme and unjustified sanction imposed by the trial court. Moreover, Lakeview did not claim to be prejudiced by an enlargement of time. (R. 103-34.)

28. The January 22 Order was not a final order on this issue. Rather, the trial court directed Lakeview's counsel to prepare an order consistent with the trial court's ruling. (See January 22 Order, p. 8.) Lakeview's counsel never prepared the Order as directed.

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