2009

Wayne L. Welsh and Carol Welsh v. Hospital Corporation of Utah, Lakeview Hospital : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

“A trial judge is given a great deal of latitude in determining the most fair and efficient manner to conduct court business.” *Morton v. Continental Banking Co.*, 938 P.2d 271, 275 (Utah 1997). The trial judge is in the best position to evaluate the status of a case, as well as the attitudes, motives, and credibility of the parties. *Id.* Judge Allphin had been involved in this case for almost three years at the time he denied the Welshes' motion for enlargement of time. He had ruled on motions, participated in phone conferences with the parties, and signed multiple case management orders. In his fourth and final scheduling order dated September 30, 2008, Judge Allphin wrote that this would be the “last amended order, case to move along or it will be dismissed.” Thus, the trial court's decision to deny the Welshes' request for additional time was not rash or abusive. Judge Allphin expressly warned the Welshes that failure to comply with the

fourth and final amended scheduling order, including the Welshes' disclosure of their expert witnesses by December 1, 2008, could result in dismissal. (R. 65.)

Although the Welshes were aware of the deadline and the consequences for not complying (as evidenced by the presence of their counsel, Mr. Wilcox, on the September 30 scheduling conference call with the trial court and their counsel's motion for additional time filed before the disclosure deadline), the Welshes chose not to obey the court's Fourth Scheduling Order requiring disclosure of their experts by December 1, 2008. Their request for an extension of time was not "reasonable" given the court's prior express warning that no further extension would be given. "While scheduling orders should never be so inflexible as to not accommodate exigencies that may occur, they are necessary to expedite the flow of cases through the court system and should not be lightly disregarded." *Arnold v. Curtis*, 846 P.2d 1307, 1310 (Utah 1993).

The Welshes claim that the trial court "unequivocally" granted their Motion for an Enlargement of Time based upon the contents of the court clerk's December 29, 2008 minute entry. (Br. of Aplt. At 21.) However, the clerk's minute entry did not constitute the trial court's ruling on the Motion.³ The trial court noted:

³ The fact that Judge Allphin's court clerk signed scheduling orders on occasion on behalf of Judge Allphin to send to the parties, while the copies of the orders in the original record contain the judge's signature, does not elevate the clerk's role to that of a judge.

[T]he Court neither entered a minute entry, made an oral ruling or order on the record, nor prepared or executed a ruling or order to that effect. Quite simply, no ruling was issued on the Welshes' motion for enlargement of time until the Court issued its written Ruling of January 22, 2009.

(R. 376.) Indeed, a minute entry is not a binding order of the court. *See Cook v. Gardner*, 381 P.2d 78, 80 (Utah 1963) (minute entry is superseded by the document signed by the judge which becomes the order of the court); *see also South Salt Lake v. Burton*, 718 P.2d 405, 406 (Utah 1986) (clerk's post-trial minute entry of judgment that was not signed by the judge was not susceptible of enforcement); *In re Discipline of Alex*, 2004 UT 81, 99 P.3d 865 (commencement of the 30 day deadline to file a notice of appeal was not the date of the minute entry reflecting the court's intention to deny a motion, but instead was the actual date the court entered an order denying the motion). Since the minute entry was not a binding order of the court, Judge Allphin's January 22, 2009 order denying the Welshes' motion for additional time was not a "reversal" of the minute entry, nor was it done *sua sponte*. Additionally, the Welshes' proposed order granting their Motion for Enlargement of Time, drafted in response to the court clerk's December 29, 2008 minute entry, was never signed by Judge Allphin. (R. 198–99.)

The Welshes contend the trial court improperly corrected a judicial error instead of a clerical error pursuant to Rule 60(a) when it changed its ruling from "motion granted" in the December 29 minute entry to "motion denied" in the trial court's January 22 order. (Br. of Aplt. at 24.) There was no need to correct *any* error by the trial court because the

December 29, 2008 minute entry did not constitute a binding order of the trial court and it was superseded by the trial court's January 22, 2009 order. *See Morgan v. Morgan*, 854 P.2d 559 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (minute entry awarding 100% of stocks to husband in divorce proceeding superseded by court's decree awarding husband 75% of stocks; language of decree took precedence over any alleged inconsistent language in court's minute entry addressing the division of the parties' stock). Even if the January 22, 2009 order is deemed a correction of the December 29, 2008 minute entry, trial courts have clear discretion to reconsider and change their position with respect to any orders or decisions as long as no final judgment has been entered. *Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles*, 2002 UT 48, ¶18, 48 P.3d 968; Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b).

The Welshes contend that they relied on the court clerk's December 29, 2008 minute entry and phone call advising them that their motion was granted and their reliance resulted in "considerable expense" in completing their expert reports. But the Welshes' claim rings hollow, given that they first designated two of their three expert witnesses on December 17, 2008 and presumably had already confirmed their opinions in advance of this designation. (R. 140–42.)

Moreover, any notations in the docket or statements made by the court clerk twenty-nine days *after* the deadline for expert designations could not possibly have influenced Mr. and Mrs. Welsh to assume, at any time before that, that the December 1st

deadline was extended. As the trial court noted, “this assumption [was] unjustified, particularly in light of the [trial] Court’s prior admonishments and express warning within the [Fourth Scheduling Order] that no further extensions of time would be permitted.” (R. 377.) The mere filing of a motion for enlargement of time did not relieve the Welshes of their duty under the Fourth Scheduling Order to serve expert designations and reports by December 1, 2008.

The Welshes cite two cases for the premise that justice and fairness required that the trial court allow them to designate witnesses after the court-imposed deadline. (Br. of Aplt. at 21.) However, the facts in those cases are substantially different from those at issue in this case. In *Carman v. Slavens*, 546 P.2d 601 (1976), plaintiff filed a notice for defendant to appear for his deposition and produce documents six weeks after service of the newly-filed complaint was perfected on defendant. Defendant did not appear for his deposition, and shortly thereafter, defendant’s counsel withdrew his representation. The trial court defaulted the defendant as a result of his failure to appear at his deposition. Citing the principle that reason and justice shall prevail over the arbitrary and uncontrolled will of a judge, the supreme court held the trial court abused its discretion and vacated the order. *Id.* at 602.

The procedural history of this case involves not six weeks of delay as in *Carmen*, but almost three years and four scheduling orders, during which time the Welshes failed

to move this case forward by answering written discovery or by presenting Mr. and Mrs. Welsh for their depositions. Moreover, the Welshes filed a motion for an extension of time to designate their expert witnesses after receiving a warning from the judge that they would receive a sanction of dismissal if they did not comply with the fourth scheduling order.

The Welshes also cite to *Boice ex. rel. Boice v. Marble*, 1999 UT 71, 982 P.2d 565, to support their claim that the trial court's denial of their motion for an extension of time was unfair and unjust. In *Boice*, the plaintiff's expert unexpectedly withdrew as a trial witness after the expert deadline and the plaintiff moved to substitute another expert witness before the final discovery cut-off date. Based upon the specific facts of that case, the supreme court found the trial court abused its discretion in excluding plaintiff's substitute expert witness.

The facts in *Boice* have no application to this case. Here, the Welshes never designated any expert witness at any time prior to the expiration of the fourth deadline for designation of expert witnesses. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

The Welshes contend that they were precluded from complying with the fourth scheduling order because of a delay in transferring their case over to "new" counsel in November 2008. (Br. of Aplt. at 20.) But regardless of their attorney Nathan Wilcox's change of law firms, Mr. Wilcox represented the Welshes during the September 30, 2008

telephone conference wherein Judge Allphin agreed to the final fourth amended scheduling order and issued a warning about dismissal of the case if the Welshes failed to comply with that order. Therefore, although Mr. Rodney Snow and Mr. Matthew Steward did not file appearances with the court until November 26, 2008, Mr. and Mrs. Welsh were continuously represented by Mr. Wilcox, who was associated with Mr. Snow's and Mr. Steward's firm before, during, and after Judge Allphin's warning. Thus, the December 1, 2008 deadline and the consequences for noncompliance with the deadline were known, or should have been known, for two months before the December 1, 2008 deadline.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS BROAD DISCRETION IN BARRING THE WELSHES' EXPERT WITNESSES AT TRIAL AS A SANCTION FOR THEIR DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

A. The Trial Court Was Empowered to Bar the Welshes' Expert Witnesses as a Sanction for Their Discovery Violation.

The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure empower the trial court to sanction a party for discovery violations. *Stevenett v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 1999 UT App 80, ¶9, 977 P.2d 508; Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2). Rule 16(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states in relevant part that “[i]f a party or a party’s attorney fails to obey a scheduling or pre-trial order . . . the court, upon a motion or its own initiative, may take any action authorized by Rule 37(b)(2).” Rule 37(b)(2)(B) provides in turn that if a party fails to obey an order entered under Rule 16(d), the court may prohibit the offending party from introducing

certain matters into evidence, such as witness testimony. *See* Utah R. Civ. P.

37(b)(2)(B).

On multiple occasions, Utah courts have affirmed a trial court's decision to bar or limit testimony when witnesses have been untimely designated. *See Griffith v. Griffith*, 1999 UT 78, ¶20, 985 P.2d 255 (trial court did not abuse discretion in barring plaintiff's witness at trial after failure to include witness on list required by court; sanction was reasonable response to the failure to comply with the court's managerial plan); *DeBry v. Cascade Enters.*, 879 P.2d 1353, 1361 (Utah 1994) (trial court did not abuse discretion in barring all of plaintiffs' expert witnesses for failure to comply with the scheduling order); *Rukavina v. Sprague*, 2007 UT App 331, ¶¶8–9, 170 P.3d 1138 (failure to comply with discovery was sanctionable and exclusion of witness and limitation of other witnesses' testimony was appropriate); *Arnold v. Curtis*, 846 P.2d 1307, 1310 (Utah 1993) (trial court did not abuse discretion in barring expert's affidavit when not filed by deadline in scheduling order); *see also Stevenett*, 1999 UT App 80, ¶24 (defendant violated discovery order in failing to supplement interrogatories regarding affirmative defenses; expert's testimony supporting affirmative defenses was limited as a sanction).

Pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2)(C), courts have even dismissed a party's claims in their entirety for failing to comply with court-imposed discovery deadlines. *See Morton v. Continental Banking Co.*, 938 P.2d 271, 274–75 (Utah 1997) (affirming dismissal of

personal injury action due to plaintiff's failure to comply with discovery orders); *Preston & Chambers, P.C. v. Koller*, 943 P.2d 260, 263 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (affirming trial court's dismissal of defendant's counterclaim after he failed to comply with court's deadline to disclose expert witnesses); *Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 962 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (holding defendant's default was not an abuse of discretion due to his failure to comply with a court order compelling discovery). Here the trial court threatened to dismiss the Welshes' entire case, but ultimately resorted to a less severe sanction—even though dismissing the case in its entirety would have been well within the court's discretion.

B. The Trial Court Acted Well Within Its Discretion in Barring the Welshes' Expert Witnesses As A Sanction For Their Willful Discovery Violation of the Fourth Scheduling Order.

To warrant sanctions for failure to comply with discovery, a trial court must determine that one of the following circumstances exist: “(1) the party's behavior was willful; (2) the party has acted in bad faith; (3) the court can attribute some fault to the party; or (4) the party has engaged in persistent dilatory tactics tending to frustrate the judicial process.” *Morton*, 938 P.2d at 276. Willful failure is defined as “any intentional failure as distinguished from involuntary noncompliance. No wrongful intent need be shown.” *M.E.N. Co. v. Control Fluidics, Inc.*, 834 F.2d 869, 872–73 (10th Cir. 1987). Once this initial determination is made, the full range of options for sanctions under Rule

37 is available and the trial court has broad discretion to select which sanction to apply under the circumstances. *Morton*, 938 P.2d at 274.

In assessing the Welshes' behavior, the trial court noted that Mr. and Mrs. Welsh failed to comply with three prior court orders over the course of three years of litigation and they were well aware of the December 1st expert discovery deadline as well as the trial court's prior admonishment regarding the slow progress of the case. They had previously been warned that the Fourth Scheduling Order was the last and that if the case was not "moved along" it would be dismissed. Still, they filed a Motion for Enlargement of Time and failed to disclose their experts by the deadline imposed by the court.

This behavior does not constitute involuntary noncompliance, but instead, an affirmative failure by the Welshes to adhere to deadlines. The court added that Mr. and Mrs. Welsh asserted no surprise, unforeseen circumstances, or any other legitimate excuse for their failure to timely file their expert designations. *See Morton*, 938 P.2d at 275 ("Any mistakes, inadvertence and neglect which may have occurred at the office of the plaintiffs' counsel are not an excuse for the manner in which the plaintiffs' counsel has handled this matter."). Based upon these facts, the trial court properly determined that the Welshes' failure to comply was willful and not due to involuntary noncompliance.

In *Preston & Chambers, P.C. v. Koller*, 943 P.2d 260 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), a case substantially similar to this case, the court of appeals upheld the trial court's outright dismissal of defendant's counterclaims on the ground that he engaged in dilatory tactics and failed to comply with a court-imposed deadline to designate expert witnesses. After nearly three years of litigation, the trial court issued a deadline for disclosure of expert witnesses and expressly stated that the defendant's counterclaims would be dismissed if he did not comply. The appellate court concluded the trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the defendant's counterclaims after finding he had ample time to designate an expert and he failed to comply with the order even after receiving notice of the consequences.

Similarly, in the instant case, the Welshes did not actively pursue this case for almost three years and were warned by the trial court that it might dismiss the case if the Welshes continued their noncompliance with the court's scheduling orders. Despite these facts showing a willful failure to comply with the trial court's order, Judge Allphin, in the proper exercise of his broad discretion, did not dismiss the Welshes' case but chose the less-severe sanction of barring the testimony of the witnesses who were not timely disclosed.

The trial court's failure to specifically reference the Welshes' willful noncompliance in its January 22 order is not dispositive. First, the trial court cited the

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